ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 18 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

FRED R. RUTLAND,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000381

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance by failing to cross examine a key prosecution witness regarding prior inconsistent statements she made concerning whether the deceased was armed with a gun at the time of the shooting?
- II. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to present a critical witness to establish the deceased's tendency toward violence and actual threats made by the deceased to his wife?
- III. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to request the trial judge instruct the jury as to defense of others to preserve this issue for appeal where the evidence supported the instruction and the prosecution consented to its issuance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 30, 1992, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (1992-GS-32-3398). App. 847-848. On February 25, 1993, Petitioner was indicted for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (1993-GS-32-586). App. 850-851. Then, on May 20, 1993, Petitioner was indicted for pointing a firearm (1993-GS-32-1514). App. 853-854. On May 26-29, 1993, Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Frank Eppes and a jury. Dayton Riddle and Knox McMahon prosecuted Petitioner. H. Jackson Gregory¹ represented Petitioner. App. 1.² Petitioner was found guilty as charged. App. 574, lines 13-24. Judge Eppes sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment for the murder conviction, five years' imprisonment for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and ten years' imprisonment for pointing a firearm. App. 575, lines 4-10. On June 7, 1993, Petitioner's trial counsel filed a motion for new trial. App. 595-599. It appears that motion was denied by Judge Eppes on June 10, 1993. On June 21, 1993, Petitioner's trial counsel filed a motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence. App. 600-602. According to the order denying post-conviction relief, this motion was subsequently denied. App. 832.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Robert Dudek represented Petitioner on appeal. This Court affirmed his convictions and sentences in an unpublished per curiam opinion. State v. Rutland, Op. No. 95-MO-263 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 25, 1995). App. 603. Subsequently, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 604-608. This Court denied rehearing on October 9, 1995. App. 609.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a pro se motion for new trial based on after discovered evidence. App. 610-619. Through trial counsel, Petitioner filed a memorandum of law in

¹ H. Jackson Gregory was disbarred by this Court on May 30, 2000. In re H. Jackson Gregory, 340 S.C. 413, 532 S.E.2d 605 (2000); App. 747, line 22 – App. 748, line 6.

² Petitioner's counsel has been unable to locate a copy of the trial transcript despite diligent efforts. However, Petitioner's counsel located a copy of the record on appeal, which has been included in the appendix.

support of his motion. App. 620-645. The state, represented by the solicitor's office, responded to the motion with the filing of an affidavit. App. 646-647.³ Petitioner then supplemented his motion with affidavits. App. 648-663. On July 27, 2001, the state, represented by the Attorney General's Office, formally responded to the motion. App. 663-685. According to the order denying Petitioner post-conviction relief, Petitioner voluntarily withdrew his pending new trial motion with the intent of filing a post-conviction relief application. The state agreed not to seek to dismiss the application as barred by the statute of limitations. App. 832.

On May 29, 2003, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (2003-CP-32-1983). App. 686-694. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on April 19, 2006 before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Jennifer N. Williams represented Petitioner, and Sabrina C. Todd represented the state. App. 701. On August 30, 2007, Judge Manning denied Petitioner relief. App. 831-844. On September 21, 2007, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend. App. 845. Six years later on August 13, 2013, Judge Manning denied Petitioner's motion. App. 846.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

³ After trial counsel was disbarred, the Honorable William P. Keesley appointed David Farrell to represent Petitioner concerning his motion for new trial. App. 705, lines 6-10.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sally and Jimmy Peele (hereinafter, the deceased) were married, but estranged. App. 212, lines 12-16; App. 290, lines 17-18. Sally and Petitioner worked together. App. 202, line 5; Tr. 203, lines 12-13; App. 347, lines 1-5; App. 376, lines 9-10. Petitioner learned from Sally that the deceased was physically abusing her, including one incident in which he had beaten her with a pipe. App. 201, line 22 – App. 202, line 1; App. 202, line 3; App. 299, lines 9-12. Quite naturally, Sally was afraid of the deceased. App. 202, line 2. On September 3, 1992, Sally called Petitioner because the deceased “was getting violent.” App. 202, lines 5-6; App. 306, lines 16-17; App. 380, lines 1-5. On the morning of September 4, 1992, Sally, Petitioner, and Robin Hunt⁴ went to a pawn shop and purchased two firearms – a .25 caliber semi-automatic pistol and a Mossberg twelve gauge shotgun⁵ – and ammunition. App. 197, lines 7-19; App. 197, line 21 – App. 198, line 3; App. 202, lines 13-17; App. 266, line 24 – App. 267, line 10; App. 313, lines 23-25; App. 315, lines 14-16; App. 382, line 24 – App. 384, line 14. After learning Sally’s daughter was not in school, they called the sheriff’s department. App. 202, lines 19-21.

Then, the trio went to the deceased’s home to get Sally’s car. App. 198, lines 19-22; App. 199, lines 9-16; App. 384, line 21 – App. 385, line 3. Unexpectedly, the deceased was at home and smoking marijuana⁶ with a neighbor. Sally, armed with a pistol, entered alone. Shortly, Sally and the deceased exited through the back door yelling at each other. Petitioner exited the van with a shotgun. Petitioner said he was there to help Sally. When

⁴ Robin Hunt had worked as trial counsel’s legal secretary. Hunt introduced Petitioner to trial counsel for legal representation in the murder case. Trial counsel agreed to represent Petitioner for \$1,000. App. 711, lines 6-22; App. 785, lines 23-25. However, trial counsel received only \$1 for his representation. App. 749, lines 12-25; App. 836.

⁵ The shotgun was owned by the deceased and Sally. The deceased had pawned the shotgun several months prior to his death. App. 270, lines 22-25; App. 313, lines 3-22.

⁶ The toxicology report showed the deceased had ingested marijuana and valiums. App. 275, line 23 – App. 276, line 4.

the deceased approached Petitioner, he shot the gun once into the air. App. 211, lines 10-11; App. 248, line 1 – App. 253, line 23; App. 316, line 5 – App. 321, line 21; App. 386, line 3 – App. 392, line 6. Despite the gunfire, the deceased repeatedly asked Sally to return to the home to talk. App. 210, line 21 – App. 211, line 9; App. 322, line 20 – App. 323, line 6; App. 392, line 24 – App. 399, line 6. Sally attempted to talk to the deceased but he began to act violently again; therefore, Sally and Petitioner got into the van with Hunt and left. App. 211, lines 15-16; App. 254, lines 6-9; App. 323, lines 7-14; App. 394, lines 2-3.

Later that day, Sally and Petitioner went to the Bow Wow Boutique, a pet grooming shop, to buy a car so they “could get away.” App. 199, lines 19-20; App. 202, lines 21-24; App. 324, line 21 – App. 325, line 4; App. 396, lines 5-12.⁷ Petitioner entered the Boutique with the pistol in his back pocket. App. 202, line 24 – App. 203, line 1; App. 397, lines 20-23.⁸ The deceased unexpectedly arrived at the Boutique. The deceased pointed his gun at Sally. Petitioner repeatedly attempted to calm the deceased, but he was undeterred. Petitioner pulled the pistol from his pocket and warned the deceased not to do anything. Petitioner was forced to shoot the deceased. When the deceased turned from Sally and began his approach to Petitioner, he was forced to shoot him again. App. 399, line 12 – App. 408, line 20; App. 791, line 4 – App. 792, line 1.⁹

Petitioner did not attempt to flee. Instead, Petitioner attempted to render aid to the deceased. App. 134, lines 16-17; App. 342, line 22 – App. 343, line 8; App. 401, lines 10-19. Further, when the police arrived, Petitioner admitted he had shot the deceased and asked

⁷ The shooting occurred at approximately 1:30 p.m. on September 4, 1992. App. 176, lines 2-8.

⁸ Petitioner testified that he armed himself because of the incident involving the deceased earlier that morning: “I just had a man promise to take me out; blow my shit away, fuck up my world, just moments before.” App. 397, lines 22-24.

⁹ The statement made by Petitioner to law enforcement indicated that when the deceased reached toward his back, Petitioner pointed his gun at the deceased, who pulled a gun from his back. Petitioner shot the deceased once, but when the deceased continued to approach him with the gun, Petitioner was forced to fire three more rounds. App. 203, lines 2-11.

the police to help the deceased. App. 91, lines 4-13; App. 177, lines 15-18; App. 345, lines 2-3; App. 410, line 20 – App. 411, line 6. When Petitioner was questioned by the police, he cooperated fully and admitted his role. App. 179, lines 24-25; App. 180, lines 13-14; App. 413, lines 16-25; App. 418, line 16 – App. 420, lines 12.

There was never any question that Petitioner shot the deceased. The only question for the jury was whether Petitioner acted in self-defense or the defense of others.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to cross examine a key prosecution witness regarding prior inconsistent statements she made concerning whether the deceased was armed with a gun at the time of the shooting.

Relevant facts

Evidence produced at trial

Kimberly Kestner worked at the Bow Wow Boutique, which was owned by Robin Hunt. App. 117, lines 16-18; App. 118, lines 6-7; App. 118, lines 17-21. Kimberly was working on September 4, 1992 when Sally and Petitioner arrived at the Boutique to buy her car. App. 119, lines 9-12; App. 124, lines 21-25; App. 144, lines 3-7.

According to Kimberly, the deceased arrived not long after Sally and Petitioner's arrival. App. 128, lines 12-17. When Sally saw the deceased, she said "Oh my God." App. 141, lines 5-7; App. 145, lines 15-18. Upon hearing Sally utter those words, Kimberly ducked behind the dog she was grooming. App. 146, lines 4-6. The prosecution asked Kimberly: "Did you see at that point in time anything in [the deceased's] hand?" App. 130, line 10. Kimberly responded she did not because his hands were below the lattice work. App. 130, line 11. When the deceased got closer to Kimberly, she observed he had a pack of cigarettes in his hands, which he placed on the counter. App. 131, lines 6-15. The prosecutor pressed forward: "Did you ever see anything else in Mr. Peele's hand - - besides those cigarettes?" Kimberly responded "No." App. 131, line 25 – App. 132, line 3. The prosecutor again asked Kimberly: "Now again, prior to that time, up until this time you'd never seen Jimmy with any weapon?" Kimberly responded, "No." App. 134, lines 22-24. For a third time the prosecutor asked Kimberly if she saw the deceased with a gun, and Kimberly responded yet again in the negative. App. 137, lines 24-25.

Kimberly claimed she saw Appellant put a pack of cigarettes in his mouth and reach behind his back as the deceased walked through the door. App. 132, line 13 – App. 133, line 13. When Kimberly glanced at the deceased, "he appeared to be doin' the same thing."

App. 133, line 23 – App. 134, line 1. Petitioner and the deceased were between ten and fifteen feet apart. App. 137, lines 5-10. Then, Kimberly heard two shots. App. 134, lines 6-9. After moving from where she had taken cover, Kimberly saw Petitioner and Sally approach the deceased and begin CPR. App. 134, lines 13-17; App. 149, lines 21-23. Kimberly called 911 from her apartment attached to the Boutique. App. 135, lines 10-14.

When the 911 operator asked Kimberly to ask Petitioner to put his weapon down, Kimberly saw Petitioner for the first time with a gun. Petitioner placed the gun on the floor. App. 136, lines 3-11. Kimberly saw another gun on the floor about eight to ten feet behind the deceased to his left. App. 136, lines 19-21; App. 150, lines 7-12; App. 150, line 25 – App. 151, line 1.¹⁰

Trial counsel cross-examined Kimberly, but never mentioned she had made prior inconsistent statements regarding the incident, particularly whether the deceased had a gun. App. 138, lines 4-7. Thus, the evidence before the jury from the only neutral witness was that the deceased was unarmed.

During his closing argument, the prosecutor relied upon Kimberly's testimony to argue to the jury the deceased never pulled his gun. App. 548, lines 19-23. The prosecutor emphasized that Kimberly was an "independent witness" and she never saw the deceased with a weapon. App. 549, lines 20-21.

Evidence produced during the PCR hearing

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel recalled that Kimberly had been interviewed by a reporter for a newspaper and had given a statement to law enforcement. According to the newspaper article, Kimberly observed the deceased enter the Boutique armed with a .9 millimeter gun and present it "in the effort to threaten the lives of the folks that were in the

¹⁰ The officer in charge of processing the scene found the loaded weapon about four or five feet from the deceased. App. 156, line 1. Sally testified that she moved the gun out of the way so that she could roll the deceased on his back to administer CPR. App. 342, lines 8-21.

boutique.” App. 718, lines 3-9; App. 720, lines 20-24. Consistent with her statements to the reporter, Kimberly told law enforcement the deceased was armed at the time he entered the Boutique. App. 718, lines 9-12; App. 721, lines 4-25; App. 821. According to the incident report, Kimberly stated the deceased pulled a weapon out prior to the shooting. App. 721, lines 14-25. Trial counsel was armed with Kimberly’s statement to police and the incident report prior to trial. App. 720, line 25 – App. 721, line 25. Although trial counsel was unable to locate the newspaper article prior to trial, he was aware of its existence and the statements made by Kimberly to the reporter. App. 722, line 25 – App. 723, line 9.

Trial counsel found Kimberly’s trial testimony was “surprising” because it was “180 degrees” different from her pretrial statements. App. 722, lines 1-10. Candidly, trial counsel admitted he failed to confront Kimberly with her prior inconsistent statements during his cross-examination of her due to his “oversight.” App. 722, lines 11-21; App. 723, lines 10-16; App. 752, lines 2-10. One primary issue at trial was whether the deceased was armed – particularly, in light of the prosecutor’s closing argument that Petitioner had planted the gun found at the scene. App. 736, line 11 – App. 737, line 10. Although Sally and Petitioner testified the deceased was armed, both were interested parties in the case, but Kimberly was a disinterested party who was presented as an objective witness. App. 764, line 7 – App. 765, line 3.¹¹

In her closing, the state conceded “there may be some showing here [of] deficient performance.” The state only argued a lack of prejudice. App. 812, line 25 – App. 813, line 2.

¹¹ The prosecutor, Dayton Riddle, stated that he was aware Kimberly’s testimony was inconsistent with her statement to police, and he expected trial counsel to cross-examine her on the inconsistencies because the statement had been provided to the defense during discovery; however, Riddle did not elicit any testimony from Kimberly about the inconsistent statements. App. 796, line 21 – App. 797, line 9. Riddle admitted Kimberly’s testimony was important because she was an independent witness and any discrepancies between her statement to police and her trial testimony would have affected her credibility and “would be important to bring out.” App. 804, line 20 – App. 805, line 6.

Order denying relief

The PCR court found trial counsel's failure to impeach Kimberly with her prior statements that she saw the deceased draw a weapon constituted deficient performance. App. 839. However, the PCR court held Petitioner failed to show prejudice because Kimberly did not testify at the PCR hearing. App. 839. According to the PCR court, Kimberly "might have denied the statements attributed to her, requiring they be proved through extrinsic evidence which [Petitioner] also did not provide at his PCR hearing, or she might have provided some satisfactory explanation for the difference between her pretrial statements and her trial testimony." App. 839. The PCR court stated it was left "to speculate as to the impact the proposed impeachment of [Kimberly] would have had at [Petitioner]'s trial." App. 839. Thus, the PCR Court denied Petitioner relief.

Discussion

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

When trial counsel fails to impeach a witness with prior inconsistent statements, deficient performance that prejudices a defendant results. See Driscoll v. Delo, 71 F.3d 701, 710-11 (8th Cir. 1995); Berryman v. Morton, 100 F.3d 1089, 1097 (3d Cir. 1996) (trial counsel failed to impeach with inconsistent eyewitness identifications). Driscoll was sentenced to death for stabbing a prison guard. Trial counsel failed to impeach an alleged eyewitness who claimed he saw Driscoll stab the guard and that Driscoll confessed to the murder. Driscoll's attorney knew the witness had told police that he only spoke to Driscoll after the stabbing and that Driscoll had not claimed responsibility. Id. at 709-12. The centrality of the witness's testimony was an important factor in the court's consideration in finding the failure to impeach prejudicial. The court found the failure "was a breach with so much potential to infect other evidence, that without, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would find reasonable doubt of Driscoll's guilt." Id.; See also Peebles v. State, 958 S.W.2d 533, 536-37 (Ark. 1998) (holding that defendant was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to impeach a witness with a prior denial that a crime occurred); Delarosa v. State, 24 So.3d 741, 741-42 (Fla. Ct. App. 2009) (remanding case for prejudice inquiry because of trial counsel's failure to impeach police officer with prior statement claiming he was attacked by three Mexicans when same officer testified at trial he was only attacked by defendant).

In Black v. State, 151 S.W.3d 49, 56 (Mo. 2004), trial counsel failed to impeach several witnesses regarding prior inconsistent statements that "related directly to the central issue of whether Mr. Black acted with deliberation or in a fit of rage or out of self-defense." The Missouri court rejected the state's argument that Black "was required to have called each of the witnesses in question at his post-conviction motion hearing so that he could show what they would have stated had his counsel attempted to impeach them with their prior inconsistent statements." Id. at 57. The court held "a movant is not required to reenact how a hypothetical trial would have proceeded had particular evidence been utilized, but to show that counsel knew of the evidence and was ineffective

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