STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

JAN - 5 2015

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2014-000381

Fred R. Rutland,.....Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Certiorari is not warranted to review whether the PCR Judge made a sound finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel's performance was ineffective for not utilizing a purported prior inconsistent statement to impeach a State's witness where Petitioner merely presented evidence that at best established ambiguity on whether the witnesses' prior statement constituted an inconsistent statement in light of her trial testimony.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued counsel was ineffective in failing to utilize State witness, Kimberly Kestner's, purported prior inconsistent statements during his cross-examination of the witness. Petitioner presented Mrs. Kestner's September 4, 1992 statement in support of the allegation. See Applicant's Exhibit 1. App.p.821.

Counsel testified to his course of conduct on the matter. In addition, Assistant Solicitor Riddle testified to his involvement in prosecuting Applicant's case. He noted that Mrs. Kestner testified in manner consistent with his pre-trial interview with the witness; but noted possible ambiguity on whether Mrs. Kestner's trial testimony comported with her prior statements on the matter. App.pp.769-96. He was adamant that Assistant Solicitor McMahon¹ disclosed all discovery material in a timely and ethical manner. App.p.798. Riddle disputed Petitioner's interpretation of the Mrs. Kestner's statement in stating, "No, ma'am, the conclusion that I take is that -- you're drawing, is that Mr. Peele (the victim) walks in with gun in his hand then [Petitioner] pulls the gun and defends himself and I don't think that's what this statement said." App.p.802, ln. 6-

¹ The Honorable R. Knox McMahon.

10.

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found "[Petitioner] has not carried his burden of establishing prejudice in that he failed to present Kestner's testimony at the PCR hearing... [w]ithout presenting Kestner's testimony, [Petitioner] leaves this Court to speculate as to the impact the proposed impeachment of Kestner would have had at [Petitioner]'s trial." App.p.839.

Effective Assistance of Counsel

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

The right to cross-examination is guaranteed by Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974). Although cross-examination may not have been as effective as hoped, flawless cross-examination is rare. Sherron v. Norris, 69 F.3d 285, 290-91 (8th Cir. 1995). "A PCR applicant cannot show that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to call a

favorable witness to testify at trial if that witness does not later testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence.” Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 369, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (citing Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995)); see also U.S. v. Rodriguez, 53 F.3d 1439, 1449 (7th Cir. 1995) (failure to show what further cross-examination would produce and how it would affect the result). An ambiguous or silent record cannot disprove the strong and continuous presumption of competence. Chandler v. U.S., 218 F.3d 1305, 1314 n. 15 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc).

Discussion

Ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove Strickland’s prejudice prong where the allegation was solely reliant upon speculative ambiguity between Mrs. Kestner’s statement, **Applicant’s Exhibit 1**, and her trial testimony. At trial, Mrs. Kestner testified that a partial partition blocked her view of the victim’s hands when he entered the boutique. App.pp.131-33. She noted Petitioner first reached to the back of his pants to grab an object which triggered the victim to follow suit. App.p.134. Upon hearing shots, she ducked for cover. App.p.134. Emergency dispatch instructed her to tell Petitioner to put down his pistol. App.p.150. Mrs. Kestner definitively realized the victim was also armed after he was murdered. App.p.150. In comparison, Mrs. Kestner’s statement, in relevant part, simply states, “There was a guy in the boutique with [Mrs. Peele]. [The victim] came in. He reached behind him and pulled a gun. I heard 2 [sic] and [the victim] fell.” **See Applicant’s Exhibit 1** (emphasis added). The indefinite pronoun “he” is facially vague.

Alternatively, any possible deficiency here constituted harmless error in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt in addition to Petitioner's trial testimony. Petitioner testified he reached for the pistol soon after the victim entered the boutique. App.pp.461-62. In pertinent part:

McMahon: You've already got your pistol out don't you, Mr. Rutland?
Petitioner: Yes.

McMahon: You cannot see a weapon in his hand at all. Can You? Right now.
Petitioner: I can't see his hand either.

App.p.464, ln. 22—p.465, ln. 2. By Petitioner's account, he was the aggressor and brandished his pistol prior to having to the opportunity to observe whether the victim was in fact armed for the occasion. Furthermore, Petitioner's trial testimony undercut the import of Mrs. Kestner's testimony either the defense's case or the State's case. He testified that at trial that he and Mrs. Peele moved to the other side of the room to confront the victim while Mrs. Kestner remained at her station and continued to groom the Chow puppy throughout the fatal incident. App.p.400, ln 1-3; p.402, ln. 9—p.403, ln. 8. In pertinent part she testified:

Counsel: And where was [Mrs. Kestner] at this time?
Petitioner: She was -- well, this is her table but it was way back in here.
She was back in here.²

App.p.403, ln.12-14 (emphasis added). Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance.

II.

Certiorari is inappropriate where the PCR Judge made the correct credibility finding concerning recanted testimony from a State's witness that constituted perjured, contradictory, and biased testimony that discredited the allegation that counsel's performance was ineffective for failing to question the witness on matters concerning the victim's conduct.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued counsel was ineffective in failing to question State's witness Robin Lankford (Mrs. Hunt) on her observations of the victim's purported violent conduct against her and Mrs. Peele on the days prior to his murder. Mrs. Hunt testified at the PCR hearing that she was never 100% certain if her trial testimony concerning Mrs. Peele's phone conversation to the victim where she instructed the victim to meet at boutique was accurate. App.p.775. She further testified on other speculative and uncorroborated matters. Again, counsel testified to his course of conduct on the matter. App.p.776; p.778; p.780. Riddle adamantly refuted the allegation of witness intimidation. App.pp.795-97.

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Mrs. Hunt lacked credibility. The PCR Judge specifically noted "[Petitioner] has failed to show his defense suffered because of the lack of this non-credible and biased testimony." App.p.841.

S.C. Code § 17-27-80.

"The court may receive proof by affidavits, depositions, oral testimony or other evidence and may order the applicant brought before it for hearing." S.C. Code Ann. §

² Trial testimony references State's Exh 1. App.p.396.

17-27-80. “The court shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented. This order is a final judgment.” § 17-27-80. “This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR court when there is any evidence of probative value to support them, and will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Lomax v. State, 379, S.C. 93, 101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008). “The PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility are given great deference by this Court.” Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012) (internal citation omitted); see also Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993).

Discussion

Ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge’s finding that Mrs. Hunt’s PCR testimony was biased and non-credible. Mrs. Hunts offered testimony at the PCR testimony that was categorically inconsistent and contradictory. First, she testified that “[the victim] had been attacking [Mrs. Peele] and chasing her around and also had come after me; that [Petitioner and Mrs. Peele] purchased the pistol for [Mrs. Peele]’s protection because [the victim] had been make threats [sic] toward her and he had also made threats and [sic] come after me;” last she testified that two days prior to the victim’s murder, he threatened to kill her and attempted to assault her with his vehicle. App.p.773, ln.11-12; ln.17-22; ln. 23-25; p.774, ln.4-10. Yet, despite enduring the victim’s purportedly monstrous and terrifying conduct, Mrs. Hunt subsequently testified that she shared a warm conversation with the victim just hours prior to his murder; a conversation most consistent with an intimate and cherished long-standing friendship. Mrs. Hunt testified in pertinent part: “I talked to [the victim] that morning before he came up and he

indicated to me that he was on the coast and I told him, I said [the victim and Mrs. Peele] need to sit down and talk about this. This has gotten completely out of hand. I've known both of y'all for a long time. You just need to sit down and talk." App.p.780, ln.15-20 (emphasis added). Continuing on the incredible revisionist sentiment, Mrs. Hunt testified "[Petitioner] said he wasn't going to kill [the victim], [Petitioner] just would have crippled him had [the victim] continued to come after them." App.p.783, ln. 23-25 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, the PCR Judge made a sound finding on Mrs. Hunt's bias that was supported in numerous instances in her PCR testimony. Mrs. Hunt testified that she provided the surety bond for Petitioner after his arrest for murder. App.p.779-80. She further arranged for counsel's representation on Petitioner's case; even counsel testified that she was heavily involved in the defense.

Notably, Mrs. Hunt displayed her familiarity and adeptness to the legal process, indicative of an experienced paralegal, when she testified, "I was never 100 percent sure about [observation of Mrs. Peele's phone call to the victim that set up his murder] – but I was told that I could not say I was not 100 percent sure about it, so I didn't. I trusted [counsel] to cross-examine me about it so I could offer into evidence that I was unsure about it." App.p.775, ln.17-21 (emphasis added). Notably distinct from the admission concerning her intent to commit nuanced perjury, Petitioner previously presented Mrs. Hunt's purported affidavit in support of his post-trial Rule 29 Motion where she projects herself in a strikingly different posture. App.pp.620-45; pp.657-62. In pertinent part:

- a. that on the day of [Mrs. Hunt]'s testimony affiant was under the influence of prescription medication, Prozac, and as a result was unable to

think clearly;

- f. that as noted in the 10/26/92 transcription of the 10/23/92 taped statement affiant gave LCSD Sgt. Harris, both some months prior to and during the time of 09/04/92, affiant was taking Prozac on a daily basis and that affiant is informed and believes that this medication so affected her memory that throughout this period of time she could not precisely correlate events with the given dates in which they occurred.

App.p.658; p.659 (emphasis added). She further perjured herself in stating, “affiant is informed and believes that the only telephone call she is certain [Mrs. Peele] made from affiant’s home on 09/04/92 was on [Mrs. Peele] made to the school where her daughter was enrolled.” App.p.660.

Respondent submits that not only did the PCR Judge make a sound credibility finding here, it was the correct ruling. In the interest of judicial economy, Respondent submits that further discussion is unnecessary. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance.

III.

Certiorari is unwarranted where the PCR Judge correctly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve a request to charge defense of another for appellate review where charge was unsupported by the evidence presented at trial.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to properly preserve the Trial Judge's rejection the request to charge defense of another for appellate review. In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR Judge rejected the efficacy of Petitioner's argument and found a defense of another charge was inappropriate in Petitioner's case. App.p.842.

Effective Assistance of Counsel

“This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial.” Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1993). Failure to request particular instructions is not ineffectiveness where those given by the court are adequate, Campbell v. U.S., 364 F.3d 727, 733 (6th Cir. 2004). And instructions need not be requested that are inconsistent with the trial theory. (Butcher v. Marquez, 758 F.2d 373, 376-77 (9th Cir. 1985)). “A defendant is entitled to a defense of another charge only where there is evidence he was lawfully defending another person, i.e., the other person would have had the right to take decedent's life in self-defense.” Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 504 S.E.2d 307 (1980)

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994). In determining whether a defendant was

prejudiced by improper jury instructions, the court must find that, viewing the charge in its entirety and not in isolation, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the improper instruction in way that violates the Constitution. Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 399, 585 S.E.2d 305, 306 (2003). In order to establish self-defense the defendant must establish the following elements:

1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; 2) the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger; 3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; if the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life, and; 4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

Goodson, 312 S.C. at 280, 440 S.E.2d at 372. The principle difference between defense of another and self-defense is that, in addition, the defendant must also establish that the person he assisted would have been entitled to use the same degree of force in his or her own defense. State v. Francis, 152 S.C. 17, 149 S.E. 348 (1929).

Discussion

The PCR Judge correctly assessed that Petitioner's case did not support an instruction on defense of another. Clearly, the State's evidence tended to prove that Petitioner murdered the victim; he killed Mr. Peele with malice aforethought, as the result of a preconceived plan. This evidence obviously would not support a jury instruction since the State's evidence reasonably tended to prove that Petitioner and Mrs. Peele were

at fault in bringing on the difficulty; that Mrs. Peele lured her husband to the boutique, where Petitioner was lying in wait; and, that Petitioner shot the victim before he had a chance to defend himself.

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